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from the president...

With the 2013-14 academic year well under way, I would like 
to share with you how Utah State University has made signifi-
cant strides despite recent financial challenges. During a time 
when the national and global economic news and investment 
climate have been difficult, Utah State University has kept to 
its promise of providing quality research, teaching, and ser-
vice to the great state of Utah.

While there is increasing evidence that the recession that has 
impacted our economy for the last few years is coming to an 
end, we are now dealing with two additional challenges that 
impact our budget. First, we are working to offset revenue 
losses associated with the change in LDS missionary policy.  
Enrollment impacts will likely be short term, but they have 
significant consequences for tuition and auxiliary revenues.  
Second, the federal sequestration is having significant neg-
ative impacts on our research funding. While both of these 
issues create new budget-related challenges for our university, we are confident that we will be 
able to navigate these challenges, just as we have dealt with the budget cuts of the past few 
years caused by the recession.

Utah State University has the energy and vision necessary to be one of the leading institutions 
for higher education in the nation. In times like these, the University relies on all the members 
of our community and by working together we will emerge as an even stronger university in the 
days ahead.

As the economic situation evolves, we will continue to keep you informed about how the Uni-
versity plans to respond. I am very grateful to you for the work you do on behalf of Utah State 
University and for the people of Utah. Thank you. 

The financial statements that follow are prepared according to generally accepted accounting 
principles established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. 

The State of Utah Auditor’s Office has audited the financial statements for the year ended June 
30, 2013. Their definitive opinion is included with this report. The annual financial report is 
intended to establish the University’s financial position as of June 30, 2013. It is also intended 
to reflect the flow of financial resources to the University during the fiscal year 2012-2013, while 
disclosing how these resources are applied in accomplishing our mission. We are pleased to 
share this report with you.

Stan L. Albrecht
President
Utah State University
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Utah State Capitol Complex, East Office Building, Suite E310  •  P.O. Box 142310  •  Salt Lake City, Utah 84114-2310  •  Tel: (801) 538-1025  •  Fax: (801) 538-1383 

INDEPENDENT STATE AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 

To the Board of Trustees, Audit Committee 
 and 
Stan L. Albrecht, President 
Utah State University 

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Utah State University (University), a 
component unit of the State of Utah, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which collectively comprise the University’s basic financial statements, as listed 
in the table of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not 
audit the financial statements of the Utah State University Research Foundation, a blended component 
unit foundation, which represents approximately 3% and 11%, respectively, of the assets and revenues of 
the University. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, 
and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the Utah State University Research 
Foundation, is based solely on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to 
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the 
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Opinion  

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the University as of June 30, 2013, 
and the changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that management’s 
discussion and analysis, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. 
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the University’s basic financial statements.  The Letter from the President and the 
listing of the executive officers and board of trustees have not been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on this other information. 

OTHER REPORTING REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS  

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 23, 
2013 on our consideration of the University’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of 
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the University’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 

 

Office of the Utah State Auditor 
October 23, 2013 
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Students from a variety of programs on campus take part in tree planting 

activities that go well beyond Arbor Day. The USU campus has a wide 

range of tree types used for forestry and horticultural education as well 

as for esthetics and environmental benefits.
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Management’s 
Discussion and 
Analysis
This section provides an overview of 
the University’s financial activities in 
the current year compared to the prior 
year. Total assets and liabilities are 
presented as well as the change in net 
position from the prior year. Revenues, 
expenses, appropriations from the 
state, contributions, etc., are analyzed 
and discussed. The cash activity is 
also summarized to show the change 
in cash from the prior year to the 
current year.

Introduction

The following unaudited Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) includes an 
analysis of the financial condition and results of 
activities of Utah State University (University) for 
the fiscal year (FY) ended June 30, 2013. The 
analysis includes the University’s condensed 
and comparative Statement of Net Position; 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes 
in Net Position; and Statement of Cash Flows 
along with related graphs and comparative data. 
Also included is management’s perspective of the 
University’s economic outlook.

The University is a component unit of the State 
of Utah. The financial statements include the 
accounts of Utah State University Agricultural 
Experiment Station, Utah State University Water 
Research Laboratory, Utah State University 
Cooperative Extension Service, Utah State 
University Uintah Basin Regional Campus, Utah 
State University Southeast Region, Utah State 
University Tooele Regional Campus, Utah State 
University Brigham City Regional Campus, and 
Utah State University Eastern (USU Eastern), 
which are entities separately funded by state 
appropriations.

The Utah State University Research Foundation 
(USURF), the Utah State University Foundation 
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(Foundation), the Utah State University Advanced 
Weather Systems Foundation (AWSF), and 
the College of Eastern Utah Foundation, 
component units of the University, have also 
been consolidated in these financial statements. 
The Utah State University Research Foundation 
is governed by a Board of Trustees appointed 
by the President of Utah State University, 
under the direction of the University’s Board of 
Trustees. USURF is a dependent foundation of 
Utah State University. It is reported as a part of 
the University because its primary purpose is to 
support the mission of Utah State University in 
regards to research. The Utah State University 
Foundation is also governed by a Board of 
Trustees appointed by the President of the 
University. The Utah State University Foundation 
is a dependent foundation of Utah State 
University and serves as the main fund-raising 
arm of the University. AWSF is governed by a 
Board of Directors appointed by the University. 
It is a supporting organization of the University 
that performs scientific research and offers 
educational opportunities for students. The 
College of Eastern Utah Foundation is included 
because it serves as a fund-raising organization 
whose sole purpose is for the  benefit of 
USU Eastern.

The Utah State University Research Foundation 
annually publishes audited financial statements.  
A copy of the audited financial statements can be 
obtained from the Utah State University Research 
Foundation, 1695 North Research Parkway, 
North Logan, Utah 84341. The College of Eastern 
Utah Foundation unaudited financial statements, 
compiled by an independent accounting firm, 
are available from the USU Eastern Development 
Office, 451 East 400 North, Price, Utah 84501.

Overview of Financial Statements 
and Financial Analysis

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis is 
designed to provide an easily readable analysis of 
the University’s financial activities based on facts, 
decisions, and conditions known at the date of 
the auditor’s report. The University’s financial 
statements for fiscal year 2013 are presented 
beginning on page 21. The financial statements, 
note disclosures, and this discussion are the 
responsibility of management. This annual report 
consists of a series of financial statements, 
prepared in accordance with the Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 
No. 35, Basic Financial Statements and 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for 
Public Colleges and Universities. These financial 
statements focus on the operation, cash flows, 
and the main condition of the University as a 
whole. There are three financial statements 
presented: Statement of Net Position; Statement 
of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net 
Position; and Statement of Cash Flows.

Statement of Net Position

The Statement of Net Position outlines the 
University’s financial condition at fiscal year 
end. This statement reflects the various assets, 
liabilities, and net position of the University as of 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013.

From the data presented, readers of the 
Statement of Net Position have the information 
to determine the assets available to continue 
the operations of the University. They can 
also determine how much the University owes 
vendors, investors, and lending institutions. 
Finally, the Statement of Net Position outlines the 
net position (assets minus liabilities) available to 
the University and defines that availability.

Net position is divided into three major 
categories. The first category, Net Investment 
in Capital Assets, reflects the University’s equity 
in property, plant, and equipment owned by the 
University. The second category, Net Position 
Restricted, is further divided into two sub-
categories: Non-Expendable and Expendable. 
The corpus of non-expendable restricted 
resources as it pertains to endowments is only 
available for investment purposes. Donors 
have primarily restricted income derived from 
these investments to fund scholarships and 
fellowships. The corpus of non-expendable 
restricted resources as it pertains to loan funds 
is only available for the purpose of issuing loans 
to students under the terms of the various donor 
and federal government agreements. Expendable 
Restricted Net Position consists of resources 
available for expenditure by the University but 
must be expended for purposes as determined 
by donors and/or external entities that have 
placed time or purpose restrictions on the use 
of the assets. The last category, Net Position 
Unrestricted, discloses the resources available to 
the University to be used for any lawful purpose 
of the University.
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June 30, 2013 June 30, 2012 Change % Change

Assets
Current assets $183,317,020 $157,339,448 $25,977,572 16.51%
Non-current assets

Capital assets – net 688,177,285 687,817,640 359,645 0.05%
Other 350,041,047 333,787,409 16,253,638 4.87%

Total assets 1,221,535,352 1,178,944,497 42,590,855 3.61%

Liabilities
Current liabilities 92,531,119 88,617,539 3,913,580 4.42%
Non-current liabilities 115,615,912 121,488,024 (5,872,112) -4.83%

Total liabilities 208,147,031 210,105,563 (1,958,532) -0.93%

Net position
Net investment in capital assets 579,617,366 576,057,990 3,559,376 0.62%
Restricted – non-expendable

Primarily scholarships and fellowships   100,657,358 93,294,196 7,363,162 7.89%
Loans 14,518,504 13,854,486 664,018 4.79%

Restricted – expendable 184,171,495 164,417,616 19,753,879 12.01%
Unrestricted 134,423,598 121,214,646 13,208,952 10.90%

Total net position $1,013,388,321 $968,838,934 $44,549,387 4.60%

Condensed Statement of net position

In fiscal year 2013, the University’s total net 
position increased $44.5 million (4.60%) to $1 
billion. The increase reflects those revenues that 
were received during 2013 but were not used 
for operations or payment of interest on capital 
asset related debt. State appropriations for 
capital assets of $6.3 million; grants, contracts, 
and private gifts for capital purposes of $15.2 
million; and additions to permanent endowments 
of $6 million make up $27.5 million of the 
increase. The remaining portion of the increase 
is attributable to investment income, private 

gifts, the purchase of capital assets with revenue 
from other sources, and the other revenues that 
were not expended during the current year. Total 
assets increased $42.6 million (3.61%) while total 
liabilities decreased $2 million (0.93%). Current 
assets increased $26 million mostly due to $22.8 
million more in short-term investments. Non-
current assets increased $16.6 million mostly due 
to $14.9 million more in investments and $1.4 
million more in restricted short-term investments. 
Total liabilities decreased due to the normal 
annual payments of principal on existing debt.
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Composition 
of the 
University’s 
Net Position 

Balance at 
June 30, 2013 
$1,013,388,321

$1,013,388,321
BALANCE AT JUNE 30, 2013

RESTRICTED – NON-EXPENDABLE:   11.4%
  •  $115,175,862

RESTRICTED – EXPENDABLE:   18.2%  •  $184,171,495
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NET POSITION

The composition of 
the University’s net 
Position is displayed in 
the following graph:

Statement of revenues, expenses, 
and changes in net position

Changes in total net position as presented 
in the Statement of Net Position are based 
on the activity presented in the Statement 
of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net 
Position. The purpose of this statement is to 
present the revenues received by the University, 
both operating and non-operating, and the 
expenses paid by the University, operating 
and non-operating, and any other revenues, 
expenses, gains, and losses received or 
expended by the University.

Operating revenues are received for providing 
goods and services to the various customers 
and constituencies of the University. Operating 
expenses are those expenses paid to acquire 

or produce the goods and services provided 
in return for the operating revenues, and to 
carry out the mission of the University. Non-
operating revenues are revenues received for 
which goods and services are not provided; 
for example, state appropriations are non-
operating revenues because they are provided 
by the Legislature to the University without the 
Legislature directly receiving commensurate 
goods and services in return for those 
revenues. Without the non-operating revenues, 
in particular the state appropriations, private 
gifts, and financial aid grants and contracts, 
the University would not be able to cover its 
costs of operations. These sources are critical 
to the University’s financial stability and directly 
impact the quality of its programs. In fiscal 
year 2013, funding from these sources was 
adequate to cover all of the University’s costs 
of operations.
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Fiscal Year 
2013

Fiscal Year 
2012 Change % Change

Operating revenues

Tuition and fees (net of scholarship allowances of: 
       FY 2013 – $60,561,799; FY 2012 – $59,469,524) $105,692,050 $100,132,189 $5,559,861 5.55%

Contracts, grants, and federal appropriations 165,737,614 161,747,508 3,990,106 2.47%

Auxiliary enterprises 43,375,214 42,761,478 613,736 1.44%

Other 35,808,226 35,694,992 113,234 0.32%

Total operating revenues 350,613,104 340,336,167 10,276,937 3.02%

Operating expenses

Salaries and wages 262,130,549 252,807,368 9,323,181 3.69%

Employee benefits 94,396,401 95,696,086 (1,299,685) -1.36%

Other operating expenses 147,099,966 142,679,470 4,420,496 3.10%

Scholarships and fellowships 29,533,011 28,694,927 838,084 2.92%

Depreciation 42,001,726 40,044,284 1,957,442 4.89%

Total operating expenses 575,161,653 559,922,135 15,239,518 2.72%

Operating loss (224,548,549) (219,585,968) (4,962,581) 2.26%

Non-operating revenues

State appropriations 163,135,395 161,608,416 1,526,979 0.94%

Private gifts 12,096,416 8,504,098 3,592,318 42.24%

Financial aid grants and contracts 40,313,904 39,609,911 703,993 1.78%

Other 31,033,396 24,896,462 6,136,934 24.65%

Net non-operating revenues 246,579,111 234,618,887 11,960,224 5.10%

Income before other revenues/(expenses) 22,030,562 15,032,919 6,997,643 46.55%

Other revenues/(expenses)

State appropriations for capital purposes 6,255,707 53,071,628 (46,815,921) -88.21%

Grants, contracts, and gifts for capital purposes 15,242,985 1,736,360 13,506,625 777.87%

Additions to permanent endowments 6,043,986 2,143,521 3,900,465 181.97%

Other - net (5,023,853) (3,697,031) (1,326,822) -35.89%

Net other revenues 22,518,825 53,254,478 (30,735,653) -57.71%

Increase in net position 44,549,387 68,287,397 (23,738,010) -34.76%

Net position – beginning of year 968,838,934 900,551,537 68,287,397 7.58%

Net position – end of year $1,013,388,321 $968,838,934 $44,549,387 4.60%

condensed statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position
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The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and 
Changes in Net Position shows the activity that 
resulted in a $44.5 million increase in net position 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013.

The University experienced a net operating loss 
in fiscal year 2013 of $224.5 million. This oper-
ating loss highlights the University’s dependency 
on non-operating revenues such as state appro-
priations and private gifts to meet its costs of 
operations and provide funds for the acquisition 
of capital equipment.

Total 2013 operating revenues increased by 
$10.3 million (3.02%) over 2012. The $5.6 million 
increase (5.55%) in tuition and fee revenues 
comprises most of the increase, which reflects 
increases in tuition rates to meet budget needs. 
Grants and contracts provided $3.8 million of 
the increase.

State appropriations increased $1.5 million 
(0.94%) over 2012. Other grants from the State 
increased by $4.4 million, most of which is for 
research through the Utah Science Technology 
and Research (USTAR) initiative.

The University has continued to receive generous 
gifts. Private gifts, including additions to perma-
nent endowments, increased by $7.5 million in 

2013, from $10.6 million in 2012 to $18.1 million 
in 2013.

Financial aid grants and contracts revenue in-
creased, slightly, by $0.7 million (1.78%).

Investment income increased $1.6 million over 
2012. This is largely due to a stronger investment 
market and an increase in gifts which increased 
the amounts available to invest.

State appropriations for capital purposes were 
$6.3 million, and private grants and gifts for cap-
ital purposes were $15.2 million. These funds are 
helping to fund various capital projects which are 
discussed in the Capital Asset and Debt Adminis-
tration section on page 15.

Total operating expenses increased $15.2 million 
(2.72%) in 2013. An increase of $2 million of 
depreciation is a result of the depreciation for 
one new building and additional capital assets. 
Salaries and benefits went up $8 million (2.30%) 
mainly due to modest salary increases. Other op-
erating expenses increased $4.4 million (3.10%).

At the annual Utah Governor’s Energy Development Summit in Salt Lake City in 
January 2013, Utah Governor Gary Herbert and Senator Orrin Hatch awarded Utah 
State University’s Wireless Power Transfer Team the Energy Technology Innovation 
of the Year award for its work on the Aggie Bus. The Aggie Bus is the first wirelessly 
powered electric bus developed and designed in North America.
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Revenues Used For Operating 
Expenses For Fiscal Year 2013

Operating Revenues – $350,613,104
Non-Operating Revenues – $246,579,111
Total – $597,192,215

The following graph reflects 
the University’s sources of 
revenue available to meet 
current operating costs:
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NET INVESTMENT IN CAPITAL ASSETS:   57.2%  •  $579,617,366

OPERATING EXPENSES

$575,161,653
FISCAL YEAR  2013

EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION:   62.0%
  •  $356,526,950
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Operating Expenses
Fiscal Year 2013 
$575,161,653

The graph below outlines 
the university’s operating 
expenses by object:

statement of cash flows

The final statement presented by Utah State 
University is the Statement of Cash Flows. The 
Statement of Cash Flows presents detailed infor-
mation about the cash activity of the University 
during the fiscal year. The statement is divided 
into five sections. The first section deals with 
operating cash flows and shows the net cash 
used by operating activities. The second section 
includes cash flows from non-capital financing 
activities. This section includes the cash received 
and spent for non-operating, non-investing, and 
non-capital financing purposes. The third sec-
tion includes cash flows from capital and related 

financing activities. This section includes the 
cash used for the acquisition and construction 
of capital and related  items. The fourth section 
includes the cash flows from investing activities 
and shows the purchases, proceeds, and interest 
received from investing activities. A condensed 
version of these first four sections is provided 
on the following page. The fifth section of the 
Statement of Cash Flows is not included in the 
Condensed Statement of Cash Flows, which 
reconciles the net cash used for operations to 
the operating loss reflected on the Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Posi-
tion. This reconciliation is available for review in 
the Statement of Cash Flows on page 25.
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condensed statement of cash flows

Fiscal Year  
2013

Fiscal Year 
2012 Change % Change

Cash provided/(used) by:

(1) Operating activities ($185,963,447) ($173,664,902) ($12,298,545) -7.08%

(2) Non-capital financing activities 232,783,702 224,193,594 8,590,108 3.83%

(3) Capital and related financing activities (33,977,857) (39,092,019) 5,114,162 13.08%

(4) Investing activities (8,092,761) (9,898,449) 1,805,688 18.24%

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,749,637 1,538,224 3,211,413 208.77%

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 34,767,468 33,229,244 1,538,224 4.63%

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year $39,517,105 $34,767,468 $4,749,637 13.66%

The University’s cash and cash equiva-
lents increased by $4,749,637 for a total of 
$39,517,105. This increase resulted from the 
need to have more cash on hand, rather than 
invested, to pay for current obligations.

capital asset and debt
administration

Construction of the new Regional Campuses and 
Distance Education Building was completed in 
October 2012. The 40,000 square-foot building 
is located on 700 North, between the Lillywhite 
and Industrial Science buildings. Offices for some 
instructional designers and staff in the Universi-
ty’s Center for Innovative Design and Instruction 
are housed in the building, along with multiple 
technology-enhanced rooms that seat 25-60 
students. These classrooms have increased the 
University’s capacity to deliver more courses and 
programs to the University’s regional campuses 
and centers throughout Utah. The state-of-the-
art technologies incorporated in this building 
enable the University to effectively and efficient-
ly deliver more than 750 broadcast and online 
courses while offering the choice of 45 different 
degrees and programs to students throughout 
the state and around the world through online, 
interactive video broadcast, and face-to-face 
classes. The Utah Education Network also hous-
es a technical support center in the building to 
monitor and serve its entire network.

The $2.3 million Aggie Legacy Fields project was 
completed in October 2012. The project is locat-

ed in the area north of the Health, Physical Edu-
cation, and Recreation (HPER) Building and south 
of the Dee Glen Smith Spectrum. It consists of a 
large synthetic turf field with appropriate light-
ing in a park-like setting. The fields include one 
75,000 square-foot regulation collegiate soccer 
field, two 36,000 square-foot flag-football fields, 
and two regulation softball fields. The fields pro-
vide year-round usage by students and include 
open recreation use, HPER classes, Campus 
Recreation non-credit classes, camps, and spe-
cial events. 

Construction of the Athletics Strength and Con-
ditioning Center was completed in August 2013. 
The facility is located at the northwest corner 
of Romney Stadium. The $6.4 million, 26,000 
square-foot building was built for the student 
athletes and features areas for weight training, 
cardiovascular workouts, and speed and agility 
training, as well as staff offices. The state-of-the-
art multi-level facility alleviates overcrowding in 
the existing 5,800 square-foot strength and con-
ditioning center and is designed to accommodate 
almost 400 athletes from 16 sports programs. 
The building is the largest such facility in the 
Mountain West Conference. 

Construction of USU Eastern’s, San Juan Resi-
dence Hall was completed in August 2013. The 
$3.3 million, 17,200 square-foot facility is located 
on USU Eastern’s 150-acre Blanding Campus. 
The addition of 75 beds to the campus residential 
community fills the need for more quality student 
housing. The facility provides open space and 
common areas and allows more opportunities 
for students.
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Construction of Huntsman Hall continues. This 
$42 million addition to the Jon M. Huntsman 
School of Business will be a state-of-the-art 
120,000 square-foot building that will wrap 
around the south and west sides of the George 
S. Eccles Business Building. It will feature 21 
new case-study classrooms and 21 new student 
meeting rooms as well as administrative and 
programming space. It will help meet the need for 
technology-infused collaborative spaces where 
group learning, in physical and virtual teams, can 
take place. Two-thirds of the building’s funding 
is from private donors and one-third is from the 
State. Huntsman Hall is scheduled for completion 
in late summer 2015.

Construction of the Wayne Estes Center began 
in June 2013. This will be a $9.5 million state-of-
the-art basketball practice facility and volleyball 
competition venue located west of the Dee Glen 
Smith Spectrum. The project is being funded by 
private gifts, with the lead gift of $5.25 million. 
This is the largest single gift in the University 
Athletics history. This project includes demolition 
of the University’s existing Harris Athletic Facility 
and the acquisition, construction, improvement, 
equipping, and furnishing of the new competition 
and practice facility for basketball and volleyball 
and related facilities. The Wayne Estes Center 
will be a 32,000 square-foot building which will 
contain a regulation size competition court with 
chair-back seating for 1,400 fans, along with a 
training room and in-season strength and con-
ditioning area. Office space for both men’s and 
women’s basketball and volleyball will also be 
included, as well as a locker room and film room 
for volleyball. Completion is scheduled for August 
2014. Located inside the foyer of the Wayne Es-
tes Center will be a visual tribute to the building’s 
namesake. Wayne Estes was an All-American 
basketball player for the University from 1963 to 
1965 whose career was cut short in a tragic, 
fatal accident.

The construction of the new Student Recreation 
and Wellness Center is in the planning process. 
The $30 million facility will be located adjacent 
to the HPER Building. The project includes the 
construction of a 100,000 square-foot facility 
which will include a fitness center with new 
locker rooms; an indoor running/jogging/walking 
track; a climbing center; cardio/weight rooms; 
three full-size basketball/volleyball courts; study 
lounges and multi-media meeting rooms; a multi-
activity court that can also serve as a venue 
for lectures, convocations, entertainment, or 
theatrical events; and health-themed cafe/lounge 

space. The University’s Outdoor Recreation 
Program and the Campus Recreation offices 
will be relocated within the Student Recreation 
and Wellness Center. Construction is to begin in 
April 2014 with completion scheduled for August 
2015. Funding for the construction will be from 
proceeds of the 2013B Student Building Fee 
Revenue Bonds issued in August 2013. Debt 
service for the bonds will be funded from a $75 
per semester student fee beginning in the Fall 
Semester of 2015. This student building fee was 
approved by a student body vote in the Spring 
Semester of 2012.

On March 12, 2013, the University’s $8,405,000 
Series 2013 Student Building Fee Revenue 
Refunding Bonds were issued for the purpose of 
refunding in advance of their maturity a portion 
of the Series 2004A Student Fee Revenue Bonds 
that were previously issued. This refunding result-
ed in an increase of $395,626 in the net carrying 
amount of the refunded debt, a reduction in the 
future debt service payments of $1,616,093, 
and an economic gain (difference between the 
present value of the old and new debt service 
payments) of $1,347,933.

On August 27, 2013, the University’s 
$43,310,000 Series 2013B Student Building Fee 
Revenue Bonds were issued for the purpose of 
paying a portion of the costs of constructing, 
equipping, and furnishing the Wayne Estes 
Center, and the Student Recreation and 
Wellness Center.

economic outlook

The State of Utah continues to be among the 
top states in the nation for projected economic 
growth. Economic factors such as unemploy-
ment rates, job creation, and increased personal 
income continue to be the most positive signs of 
increased economic activity in Utah. Construc-
tion, professional and business services, and 
information lead the list of employment sectors 
with the highest expected job creation rates. 
Expectations of sustained economic growth in 
the foreseeable future improve the opportunity 
for increased legislative funding support for Utah 
State University.

As anticipated, University campuses experienced 
enrollment declines due primarily to new guide-
lines for members of the predominant religion 
in Utah that allow temporary missionary service 
to begin at an earlier age. However, increased 
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recruitment efforts were highly successful in 
mitigating the temporary enrollment decrease to 
just over 3 percent, lower than originally expect-
ed. Although the new church missionary policies 
will put pressure on enrollment for one additional 
academic year, recruiting momentum remains 
strong and USU feels that it is well positioned 
to maintain current enrollment levels next year. 
Strong growth is expected in the following year 
when returning missionaries will be resuming 
higher education pursuits.

The University has a diverse source of revenues, 
including those from the State of Utah, student 
tuition and fees, sponsored research programs, 
private support, and self-supporting enterprises.  
This diversity of revenues continues to provide fi-

nancial stability and significant protection against 
potentially difficult future economic times.

Management believes that USU’s financial posi-
tion will continue to enable the University to move 
forward and accomplish its mission of being one 
of the nation’s premier student-centered, land-
grant, and space-grant universities.

David T. Cowley
Vice President for Business and Finance
Utah State University



	 18	 Utah State University  |  FY 2013  |  Management’s Discussion and Analysis



	 19  	



	 20	 Utah State University  |  FY 2013  |  Financial Statements

A student team from USU’s Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering Department in the Col-

lege of Engineering won the Air Force University Design Challenge. Seven students and two 

faculty competed against 18 teams, taking first place in the nationwide competition. The 

challenge: to get four personnel over a 20-foot gap. The solution: a mobile bridge, called the 

BAMBI, made of carbon fiber. The bridge is very light, weighing only 27 pounds and it can fit 

in a backpack. It has multiple uses, from crossing streams, to climbing, and transporting the 

injured. USU students have won the design competition two years in a row.
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financial
statements
The financial statements consist of 
the Statement of Net Position; the 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, 
and Changes in Net Position; and 
the Statement of Cash Flows. Each 
statement presents a different financial 
perspective of the University for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2013.
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Statement of Net Position
J u n e  3 0 ,  2 0 1 3

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes A, B, and D) $37,254,827 
Short-term investments (Notes B and D) 80,949,500 
Accounts receivable (net of allowances of $512,537) (Note E)

From primary government 8,857,848 
From others 46,694,034 

Credits receivable (Note E) 329,714 
Notes receivable (net of allowances of $59,760) (Note E) 1,146,866 
Inventories (Note A) 4,604,882 
Prepaid expenses 3,479,349 

Total current assets 183,317,020 
Non-current assets

Restricted
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes A, B, and D) 2,262,278 
Short-term investments (Notes B and D) 5,421,325 
Investments (Notes C and D) 130,229,697 
Accounts receivable (Note E) 21,453,837 
Notes receivable (Note E) 67,409 
Real estate held for resale 1,070,320 

Accounts receivable (Note E) 11,646,238 
Notes receivable (net of allowances of $176,422) (Note E) 11,305,549 
Investments (Notes C and D) 166,479,380 
Other 105,014 
Property, plant, and equipment - net (Note F) 688,177,285 

Total non-current assets 1,038,218,332 
Total assets 1,221,535,352 

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note G)
To primary government 4,991,740 
To others 43,948,652 

Liability for compensated absences (Note H) 11,129,300 
Liability for early retirement (Note H) 6,159,695 
Unearned revenues and deposits 17,074,848 
Other (Note H) 78,145 
Funds held for others 715,939 
Note payable to primary government (Note H) 462,366 
Bonds, notes, and contracts payable (Notes H and I) 7,970,434 

Total current liabilities 92,531,119 
Non-current liabilities

Liability for compensated absences (Note H) 5,565,319 
Liability for early retirement (Note H) 8,914,511 
Due to primary government

Notes payable (Note H) 769,689 
Deposit (Note H) 465,000 

Other (Note H) 543,965 
Bonds, notes, and contracts payable (Notes H and I) 99,357,428 

Total non-current liabilities 115,615,912 
Total liabilities 208,147,031 

Net position
Net investment in capital assets 579,617,366 
Restricted for

Non-expendable
Primarily scholarships and fellowships 100,657,358 
Loans 14,518,504 

Expendable
Research, instruction, and public service 149,781,003 
Capital projects 34,390,492 

Unrestricted 134,423,598 
Total net position $1,013,388,321 

See notes 
to financial 
statements
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statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position
F o r  t h e  y e a r  e n d e d  J u n e  3 0 ,  2 0 1 3

See notes 
to financial 
statements

Operating revenues
Tuition and fees (net of scholarship allowance of $60,561,799) $105,692,050 
Federal appropriations 5,018,732 
Federal contracts and grants 131,105,348 
State contracts and grants 9,347,641 
Local contracts and grants 2,548,420 
Private contracts and grants 17,717,473 
Sales and services of educational departments 12,252,380 
Conferences and institutes (non-credit) 6,849,133 
Service departments 3,272,909 
Auxiliary enterprises 43,375,214 
Other 13,433,804 

Total operating revenues 350,613,104 
Operating expenses

Salaries and wages 262,130,549 
Employee benefits 94,396,401 
Other operating expenses 147,099,966 
Scholarships and fellowships 29,533,011 
Depreciation 42,001,726 

Total operating expenses 575,161,653 
Operating loss (224,548,549)

Non-operating revenues/(expenses)
State appropriations 163,135,395 
State grants 14,187,095 
State land grant revenues 809,703 
Financial aid grants and contracts 40,313,904 
Private gifts 12,096,416 
Investment income 16,600,369 
Other (563,771)

Non-operating revenues – net 246,579,111 
Income before other revenues/(expenses) 22,030,562 

Other revenues/(expenses)
State appropriations for capital purposes 6,255,707 
Private grants and gifts for capital purposes 15,242,985 
Interest on capital asset related debt (4,220,468)
Additions to permanent endowments 6,043,986 
Other - net (803,385)

Net other revenues 22,518,825 
Increase in net position 44,549,387 

Net position – beginning of year 968,838,934 
Net position – end of year $1,013,388,321 
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Statement of cash flows
f o r  t h e  y e a r  e n d e d  J u n e  3 0 ,  2 0 1 3

 Cash flows from operating activities 

 Tuition and fees $106,461,523 

 Federal appropriations  5,018,732 

 Contracts and grants  156,305,329 

 Sales and services of educational departments  12,252,380 

 Conferences and institutes (non-credit)  6,849,133 

 Service departments  3,246,508 

 Auxiliary enterprises  44,197,893 

 Other operating receipts  12,606,312 

 Payments to employees for salaries and benefits  (355,070,254)

 Payments to suppliers  (147,674,327)

 Payments for scholarships and fellowships  (29,533,011)

 Loans issued to students  (2,652,264)

 Loan payments received from students  2,028,599 

 Net cash used by operating activities (185,963,447)

 Cash flows from non-capital financing activities 

 State appropriations  163,635,991 

 State grants  11,859,698 

 State land grant revenues  772,768 

 Financial aid  40,268,536 

 Private gifts  17,019,362 

 Federal direct loan receipts  59,567,044 

 Federal direct loan payments  (59,667,303)

 Other deductions  (672,394)

 Net cash provided by non-capital financing activities 232,783,702 

 Cash flows from capital and related financing activities 

 State appropriations for capital purposes  5,382,581 

 Private grants and gifts for capital purposes  9,725,919 

 Proceeds from capital debt  16,375,929 

 Other additions  892,000 

 Cash paid for capital assets  (42,558,156)

 Repayment of capital debt and leases  (19,372,571)

 Interest paid on capital asset related debt  (4,423,559)

 Net cash used by capital and related financing activities (33,977,857)
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See notes 
to financial 
statements

Statement of cash flows ( c o n t i n u e d )
f o r  t h e  y e a r  e n d e d  J u n e  3 0 ,  2 0 1 3

 Cash flows from investing activities 

 Purchases of investments ($295,984,901)

 Proceeds from sale of investments  263,344,632 

 Interest and dividends received from investments  24,547,508 

 Net cash used by investing activities (8,092,761)

 Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,749,637 

 Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 34,767,468 

 Cash and cash equivalents - end of year $39,517,105 

 Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used by operating activities 

 Operating loss ($224,548,549)

 Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used by operating activities 

 Depreciation expense  42,001,726 

 Gifts-in-kind and transfers reducing payments to suppliers  869,483 

 Changes in assets and liabilities 

 Accounts receivable  (3,340,444)

 Inventories  520,869 

 Prepaid expenses  (1,506,774)

 Accounts payable and accrued expenses  1,212,677 

 Unearned revenues and deposits  223,019 

 Compensated absences and early retirement  (213,920)

 Net student loan activity  (1,181,534)

 Net cash used by operating activities ($185,963,447)

 Non-cash investing, capital, and financing activities 

 Fixed assets acquired by incurring capital lease obligations $3,917,117 

 Completed construction projects transferred from State of Utah  1,152,115 

 Change in fair value of investments recognized as a component of investment income  3,321,086 

 Amortization of costs of issuance, original issue discount, reoffering premium, and net loss on bonds  (28,497)

 Additions to pledges receivable for non-capital financing activities  678,444 

 Additions to pledges receivable for capital and related financing activities  12,754,500 

 Disposal of capital assets due to write off  (1,680,008)

 Gifts of capital assets  358,900 

 Total non-cash investing, capital, and financing activities $20,473,657 
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Utah State University accepted an invitation for its athletic 

teams to become members of the Mountain West Conference 

in July 2013. The Mountain West, which is based in Colora-

do Springs, Colorado, was founded in 1998. Utah State fields 

teams in 16 different sports including 7 men’s sports of basket-

ball, cross country, football, golf, indoor track and field, outdoor 

track and field, and tennis and 9 women’s sports of basketball, 

cross country, gymnastics, indoor track and field, outdoor track 

and field, soccer, softball, tennis, and volleyball.
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notes to 
financial 
statements
The notes to the financial statements 
communicate information essential for 
fair presentation of the basic financial 
statements that is not displayed on 
the face of the financial statements. As 
such, the notes form an integral part 
of the basic financial statements as 
they present more detailed information 
about the University’s investments, 
bonds outstanding, capital assets, etc.
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A. Summary of 
Significant 
Accounting 
Policies
The significant accounting policies 
followed by Utah State University are 
described below.

Basis of Presentation

The University is a component unit of the State 
of Utah. The financial statements include the 
accounts of Utah State University Agricultural 
Experiment Station, Utah State University Water 
Research Laboratory, Utah State University Co-
operative Extension Service, Utah State Univer-
sity Uintah Basin Regional Campus, Utah State 
University Southeast Region, Utah State Universi-
ty Tooele Regional Campus, Utah State University 
Brigham City Regional Campus, and Utah State 
University Eastern (USU Eastern), which are enti-
ties separately funded by state appropriations.

The Utah State University Research Foundation 
(USURF), the Utah State University Foundation 
(Foundation), the College of Eastern Utah Foun-
dation, and Utah State University Advanced 
Weather Systems Foundation (AWSF) are blend-
ed component units of the University and have 
been consolidated in these financial statements. 
USURF is governed by a Board of Trustees ap-
pointed by the President of Utah State University, 
under the direction of the University’s Board of 
Trustees. USURF is a dependent foundation of 
Utah State University and is reported as a part 
of the University because its primary purpose is 
to support the mission of Utah State University 
in regards to research. The Utah State University 
Foundation is also governed by a Board of Trust-
ees appointed by the President of the University. 
The Foundation is a dependent foundation of 
Utah State University and serves as the main 
fund-raising arm of the University. The College of 
Eastern Utah Foundation is governed by a Board 
of Trustees appointed by a nominating commit-
tee of current members of the Board of Trustees. 
Its primary role is to support the mission of USU 
Eastern. AWSF is governed by a Board of Direc-
tors appointed by Utah State University. AWSF is 

a supporting organization of the University that 
performs scientific research and offers education-
al opportunities for students.

USURF annually publishes audited financial state-
ments. A copy of the audited financial statements 
can be obtained from USURF, 1695 North Re-
search Parkway, North Logan, Utah 84341. The 
College of Eastern Utah Foundation unaudited 
financial statements, compiled by an independent 
accounting firm, are available in the USU Eastern 
Development Office, 451 East 400 North, Price, 
Utah 84501

Basis of Accounting

For financial reporting purposes, the University 
is considered a special purpose government 
engaged only in business-type activities. 
Accordingly, the University’s financial statements 
have been presented using the economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual 
basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis, 
revenues are recognized when earned and 
expenses are recorded when an obligation 
has been incurred. All significant intra-agency 
transactions have been eliminated. When 
both restricted and unrestricted resources are 
available, such resources are spent and tracked 
at the discretion of the department within the 
guidelines of donor restrictions.

The accounting policies of the University conform 
in all material respects with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) as prescribed by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
deposits with an original maturity of three months 
or less (see Note B).

Investments

The University accounts for its investments at 
fair value in accordance with GASB Statement 
No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Certain Investments and for External Investment 
Pools. Changes in unrealized gain/(loss) on the 
carrying value of investments are reported as a 
component of investment income in the State-
ment of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in 
Net Position.



	 29  	

A portion of the University’s endowment portfolio 
is invested in “alternative investments.” These 
investments, unlike more traditional investments, 
generally do not have readily obtainable market 
values and typically take the form of limited part-
nerships. The University values these investments 
based on the partnerships’ audited financial 
statements. If June 30 statements are available, 
those values are used preferentially. However, 
some partnerships have fiscal years ending at 
other than June 30. If June 30 valuations are not 
available, the value is progressed from the most 
recently available valuation taking into account 
subsequent calls and distributions.

Inventories

The value of the University Campus Store in-
ventory is recorded at average cost determined 
using the retail inventory method while all other 
inventory values are essentially lower of cost 
(first-in, first-out) or market, including the cost 
of project houses waiting to be sold or under 
construction. Obsolete or unusable items are 
reduced to net realizable values.

Non-Current Assets

Assets that are externally restricted for capital pur-
poses, to make debt service payments, maintain 
sinking or reserve funds, or that represent assets 
of the University’s endowments (including real 
estate held for resale), are classified as non-current 
restricted assets.

The remaining non-current assets include those 
receivables that will not be realized within 
the next year, investments, the cost of land 
purchased for future project houses, and the 
University’s property, plant, and equipment, net 
of depreciation.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

The University componentizes certain research 
facilities to accommodate the different useful 
lives of components for depreciation purposes.

All buildings are carried on an estimated histori-
cal cost basis, at cost at date of acquisition, or at 
fair value at date of donation in the case of gifts. 
All other physical plant and equipment are stated 
at cost when purchased or constructed or fair 
value at date of donation in the case of gifts.

The University capitalizes all equipment with a 
unit cost of $5,000 or more and an estimated 
useful life greater than one year. Buildings costing 
$50,000 or more are capitalized, as are improve-
ments to buildings costing $50,000 or more that 
extend the useful life of the building. Improve-
ments other than buildings costing $50,000 
or more are also capitalized. All library books 
inventoried in the University’s recognized libraries 
are capitalized regardless of cost. Art and special 
collections held by the University are capitalized 
but not depreciated.

The University computes depreciation using the 
straight-line composite method over the estimat-
ed useful life of the assets. The estimated useful 
lives are as follows:  (Figure A.1)

The University provides repair and replacement 
reserves for certain properties as required by 
the related bond indentures. Routine repairs and 
maintenance are charged as operating expenses 
in the period in which the expense is incurred.

Unearned Revenues

Unearned revenues consist primarily of amounts 
received from contract and grant sponsors that 
have not yet been earned, amounts received for 
tuition, fees, and certain auxiliary activities prior 
to the end of the fiscal year but related to the 
subsequent accounting period.

Compensated Absences

Sick leave is not accrued but is reported in the 
period of actual expenditure. Sick leave does not 
vest to the employee but is allowed on an earned 
time basis. At the end of each calendar year, 
employees who have earned 48 days of sick 
leave may convert up to four days of sick leave to 
annual leave, subject to other restrictions of 
the University.

Figure A.1

Buildings 10 - 40 years

Improvements other than buildings 5 - 20 years

Equipment 3 - 15 years

Library collections 20 years
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Annual leave, including converted sick leave, is 
accrued and reported as earned. Employees are 
allowed to carry a maximum of 34 days annual 
leave. The 34 days is variable depending on 
the number of sick leave days the employee is 
allowed to convert at calendar year end.

Gifts

The University received $869,483 of gifts-in-kind, 
which were recorded as revenue and expense 
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013.

Non-Current Liabilities

Non-current liabilities include principal amounts 
of revenue bonds payable, notes payable, con-
tracts payable that are due beyond the next fiscal 
year, estimated amounts for accrued compen-
sated absences, early retirement, and long-term 
deposits.

Net Position

The University’s net position is 
classified as follows:

Net investment in capital assets: This rep-
resents the University’s total net investment in 
capital assets obligation related to those capital 
assets. To the extent debt has been incurred, 
but not yet expended for capital assets, such 
amounts are not included as a component of net 
investment in capital assets.

Restricted – non-expendable: Non-expend-
able restricted net position consists of endow-
ment and similar-type funds which, as a condition 
of the gift instruments, the donors or other out-
side sources have stipulated that the principal is 
to be maintained inviolate and in perpetuity and 
invested for the purpose of producing present 
and future income. The income may either be 
expended or added to principal. Also included 
in this category are funds received from donors 
with the restriction that the funds will be used to 
provide short and long-term loans to students, 
with all collections, both principal and interest, 
also restricted for this purpose.

Restricted – expendable: Restricted expend-
able net position includes resources in which the 
University is legally or contractually obligated to 
spend in accordance with restrictions imposed by 
external third parties.

Unrestricted: Unrestricted net position rep-
resents resources derived from student tuition 
and fees, state appropriations, and sales and 
services of educational departments. These 
resources are used for transactions relating to 
the educational and general operations of the 
University and may be used at the discretion of 
the governing board to meet current expenses for 
any purpose. These resources also include auxil-
iary enterprises, which are substantially self-sup-
porting activities that provide services primarily 
for students.

Income Taxes

The University is excluded from income taxes 
under Section 115(l) of the Internal Revenue 
Code. The University is also considered a Section 
501(c)(3) charitable organization.

Classification of Revenues and 
Expenses

Operating revenues: Operating revenues 
include activities that have the characteristics 
of exchange transactions such as: (1) student 
tuition and fees, net of scholarship allowances; 
(2) sales and services of auxiliary enterprises and 
other departments; (3) most federal, state, and 
local contracts and grants and federal appropri-
ations; and (4) interest on institutional student 
loans.

Non-operating revenues: Non-operating reve-
nues include activities that have the characteris-
tics of non-exchange transactions, such as gifts, 
contributions, and other revenue sources that 
are defined as non-operating revenues based on 
GASB Statement No. 9, Reporting Cash Flows 
of Proprietary and Non-Expendable Trust Funds 
and Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary 
Fund Accounting and GASB Statement No. 34, 
Basic Financial Statements and Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis for State and Local Gov-
ernments. Examples of non-operating revenues 
would include state appropriations and invest-
ment income.

Operating/non-operating expenses: With the 
exception of interest expense and losses on the 
disposal of capital assets, all expense transac-
tions are classified as operating expenses.
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Scholarship Allowances

Student tuition and fee revenues are reported 
net of scholarship allowances in the Statement 
of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net 
Position. Scholarship allowances are the dif-
ference between the stated charge for goods 
and services provided by the University and the 
amount that is paid by students and/or third par-
ties making payments on the students’ behalf. To 
the extent that revenues from other sources are 
used to satisfy tuition and fees and other student 
charges, the University has recorded a schol-
arship allowance to eliminate overstating total 
revenues to the University and properly record 
the revenues at the original source.

Segment Reporting

The University, through the Utah State Board 
of Regents, issues revenue bonds to finance 
certain activities. The University has deemed it 
not necessary to report segments on these bond 
issues, based upon the criteria provided in GASB 
Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements 
and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for 
State and Local Governments and GASB State-
ment No. 38, Certain Financial Statement 
Note Disclosures.

Effect of New GASB 
Pronouncments

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
issued Statement No. 65, Items Previously 
Reported as Assets and Liabilities. The require-
ment of this Statement is effective for fiscal year 
2014. In addition, GASB issued Statement No. 
67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans - an 
Amendment of GASB Statement No. 25, and 
GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Finan-
cial Reporting for Pensions - An Amendment of 
GASB Statement No. 27, effective for fiscal years 
2014 and 2015 respectively.

These new accounting and reporting standards 
may impact the University’s recognition and 
timing of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements. The requirements of these state-
ments may require restating the beginning net 
position. The University has elected to not early 
implement these statements and has made no 
estimation of the effect these statements will 
have on the financial statements.

B. Cash and Cash 
Equivalents, and 
Short-Term 
Investments
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
investments with an original maturity of three 
months or less. Short-term investments consist of 
investments with an original maturity greater than 
three months that will mature within one year or 
less. Cash, depending on source of receipts, is 
pooled except when legal requirements dictate the 
use of separate accounts. The cash balances and 
cash float from outstanding checks are invested 
principally in short-term investments that conform 
to the provisions of the Utah Code. It is the prac-
tice of the University that the investments ordinari-
ly be held to maturity at which time the par value 
of the investments will be realized.

The Utah State Treasurer’s Office operates the 
Utah Public Treasurer’s Investment Fund (PTIF) 
which is invested in accordance with the State 
Money Management Act. The State Money Man-
agement Council provides regulatory oversight for 
the PTIF. The PTIF is available for investment of 
funds administered by any Utah Public Treasurer.

At June 30, 2013, cash and cash equivalents and 
short-term investments consisted of: (Figure B.1)

 

Figure B.1

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash $1,436,332 

Money market accounts 16,100,000 

Money market mutual funds 345,560 

Repurchase agreements 4,771,470 

Utah Public Treasurer’s Investment Fund 16,863,743 

Total $39,517,105 

Short-Term Investments
Commercial paper and corporate notes $67,311,295 

Time certificates of deposit 19,059,530 

Total $86,370,825 
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C. Investments
Funds available for investment are pooled to 
maximize return and minimize administrative 
cost, except for funds that are authorized by the 
University administration to be separately invest-
ed or which are separately invested to meet legal 
or donor requirements. Investments received as 
gifts are recorded at market or appraised value. If 
no market or appraised value is available, invest-
ments received as gifts are recorded at a nominal 
value. Other investments are also recorded at 
fair value.

University personnel manage certain portfolios, 
while other portfolios are managed by banks, in-
vestment advisors, or through trust agreements.

According to the University’s Investment Policy, 
the governing board may appropriate for expen-
diture as much of the net appreciation, realized 
and unrealized, of an endowment’s corpus as is 
prudent under the facts and circumstances pre-
vailing at the time of the action or decision. The 
appropriation must be for the purposes for which 
the endowment is established and also includes 
a management fee.

The endowment income spending policy at June 
30, 2013, is 4 percent of the 12 quarter moving 
average of the market value of the endowment 
pool. The spending policy is reviewed periodically 
and any necessary changes are made.

The amount of net appreciation on investments 
of donor-restricted endowments that was avail-
able for authorization for expenditure at June 30, 
2013, was $16,066,285. The net appreciation is 
a component of restricted - expendable 
net position.

At June 30, 2013, the investment portfolio com-
position was as follows: (Figure C.1)

Figure C.1
Alternatives $9,517,782 
Commercial paper and corporate notes 46,823,583 
Common and preferred stocks 8,661,470 
Municipal bonds 15,796,671 
Mutual funds 109,934,532 

Obligations of the U.S. Government and 
  its agencies 102,427,034 

Time certificates of deposit 3,548,005 
Total investments (fair value) $296,709,077 

D. Deposits and 
Investments
The Utah State Money Management Act (Act) 
defines the types of securities authorized as ap-
propriate investments for the University’s non-en-
dowment funds and the conditions for making 
investment transactions. Investment transactions 
may be conducted only through qualified deposi-
tories, certified dealers, or directly with issuers of 
the investment securities.

Statutes authorize the University to invest in 
negotiable or non-negotiable deposits of qualified 
depositories and permitted negotiable deposito-
ries; repurchase and reverse repurchase agree-
ments; commercial paper that is classified as 
“first tier” by two nationally recognized statistical 
rating organizations; bankers’ acceptances; ob-
ligations of the United States Treasury including 
bills, notes, and bonds; obligations, other than 
mortgage derivative products, issued by U.S. 
Government sponsored enterprises (U.S. Agen-
cies) such as the Federal Home Loan Bank Sys-
tem, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
(Freddie Mac), Federal National Mortgage Associ-
ation (Fannie Mae), and Student Loan Marketing 
Association (Sallie Mae); bonds, notes, and other 
evidence of indebtedness of political subdivisions 
of the State; fixed rate corporate obligations and 
variable rate securities rated “A” or higher, or 
the equivalent of “A” or higher, by two nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations; shares 
of certificates in a money market mutual fund 
as defined in the Act; and the Utah State Public 
Treasurer’s Investment Fund.

The PTIF is not registered with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission as an investment com-
pany. The PTIF is authorized and regulated by 
the State Money Management Act, Section 51-7, 
Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended. The 
Act established the State Money Management 
Council, which oversees the activities of the State 
Treasurer and the PTIF and details the types of 
authorized investments. Deposits in the PTIF are 
not insured or otherwise guaranteed by the State 
of Utah, and participants share proportionally in 
any realized gains or losses on investments.

The PTIF operates and reports to participants 
on an amortized cost basis. The income, gains, 
and losses - net of administration fees, of the 
PTIF are allocated based upon the participant’s 
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average daily balance. The fair value of the PTIF 
investment pool is approximately equal to the 
value of the pool shares.

State law allows endowment funds of higher ed-
ucation institutions to be invested in accordance 
with the Utah State Board of Regents (Board 
of Regents) default investment guidelines or in 
accordance with policies adopted by the insti-
tution’s Board of Trustees and approved by the 
Board of Regents. The University invests endow-
ment funds in accordance with policies adopted 
by the Board of Trustees and approved by the 
Board of Regents.

The University’s Investment Policy allows 
the University to invest endowment funds in 
investments authorized by the Utah State 
Money Management Act or any of the following 
investments: readily marketable equities, which 
are diversified across a spectrum of market 
capitalizations, multiple regions, by issue, 
industry, and sector; readily marketable fixed 
income investments diversified by country, issue, 
sector, coupon, and quality; bonds having a 
minimum quality of “A” or better; non-investment 
grade securities, limited to 20 percent of a 
manager’s portfolio; foreign securities, limited 
to 15 percent of a manager’s portfolio and 
alternative investments that derive returns 
primarily from high-yield and distressed debt 
(hedged or non-hedged), natural resources, 
private capital (including venture capital, 

private equity, both domestic and international), 
commodities, private real estate assets or 
absolute return, and long/short hedge funds. In 
addition endowment funds may be invested as 
specifically directed by donor agreement.

Deposits

At June 30, 2013, the carrying amounts of the 
University’s deposits and bank balances were 
$36,401,849 and $41,026,380 respectively. The 
bank balances of the University were insured for 
$1,739,459 by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation. The bank balances in excess of 
$1,739,459 were uninsured and uncollateralized, 
leaving $39,286,921 exposed to custodial credit 
risk. All deposits were held by a qualified deposi-
tory as defined by the State Money Management 
Act. The State of Utah does not require collateral 
on deposits.

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, 
in the event of a bank failure, the University’s de-
posits may not be returned to the University. The 
University does not have a formal deposit policy 
for custodial credit risk.

Investments

As of June 30, 2013, the University had the fol-
lowing investments and maturities: (Figure D.1)

 Figure D.1 Investment Maturities (in years)

Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1 - 5 6 - 10 Greater than 10

Money market mutual funds $345,560 $345,560  -  -  - 

Utah Public Treasurer’s
  Investment Fund 16,863,743 16,863,743  -  -  - 

Commercial paper and
  corporate notes 114,134,878 67,311,295 $33,530,420  - $13,293,163 

Municipal bonds 15,796,671  -  4,332,036 $4,001,880  7,462,755 

Mutual funds - bonds 40,816,240  94,384  18,670,020  16,490,525  5,561,311 

Repurchase agreements 4,771,470  4,771,470  -  -  - 

Negotiable certificates of deposit 3,548,005  -  -  -  3,548,005 

U.S. agencies 102,087,057  -  -  474,090  101,612,967 

U.S. treasury securities 339,977  -  15,000  224,977  100,000 

Totals 298,703,601 $89,386,452 $56,547,476 $21,191,472 $131,578,201 

Common and preferred stock 8,661,470 

Mutual funds - equities 69,118,292 

Alternatives 9,517,782 

Total $386,001,145 
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Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk 
that changes in interest rates will adversely affect 
the fair value of an investment. The University’s 
policy for managing its exposure to fair value loss 
arising from increasing interest rates is to com-
ply with the State’s Money Management Act or 
the University’s Investment Policy, as applicable. 
For non-endowment funds, Section 51-7-11 of 
the Money Management Act requires that the 
remaining term to maturity of investments may 
not exceed the period of availability of the funds 
to be invested. The Act further limits the remain-
ing term to maturity on all investments in com-
mercial paper, bankers’ acceptances, fixed-rate 
negotiable deposits, and fixed-rate corporate 
obligations to 270 days - 15 months or fewer. In 
addition variable-rate negotiable deposits and 
variable-rate securities may not have a remaining 
term to final maturity exceeding two years. For 
endowment funds, the University’s Investment 
Policy requires only that investments be made 
as a prudent investor would, by considering the 
purposes, terms, distribution requirements, and 
other circumstances of the endowments and by 
exercising reasonable care, skill, and caution.

Figure D.2 Quality Rating

Investment Type Fair Value AAA AA A BBB
Money market mutual funds $345,560  -  -  -  - 

Utah Public Treasurer’s Investment Fund 16,863,743  -  -  -  - 

Commercial paper and corporate notes 114,134,878  - $1,062,500 $81,660,061 $27,206,067 

Municipal bonds 15,796,671 $5,651,150 10,145,521  -  - 

Mutual funds - bonds 40,816,240  -  -  -  - 

Repurchase agreements 4,771,470  -  -  -  - 

Negotiable certificates of deposit 3,548,005  -  -  -  - 

U.S. agencies 102,087,057  -  102,087,057  -  - 

U.S. treasury securities 339,977  -  -  -  - 

Totals $298,703,601 $5,651,150 $113,295,078 $81,660,061 $27,206,067 

Quality Rating (continued)

Investment Type BB Unrated No Risk
Money market mutual funds  - $345,560  - 

Utah Public Treasurer’s Investment Fund  - 16,863,743  - 

Commercial paper and corporate notes $1,502,500 2,703,750  - 

Municipal bonds  -  -  - 

Mutual funds - bonds  - 40,816,240  - 

Repurchase agreements  - 4,771,470  - 

Negotiable certificates of deposit  - 3,548,005  - 

U.S. agencies  -  -  - 

U.S. treasury securities  -  - $339,977 

Totals $1,502,500 $69,048,768 $339,977 

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that an issuer 
or other counterparty to an investment will not ful-
fill its obligation. The University’s policy for reduc-
ing its exposure to credit risk is to comply with the 
State’s Money Management Act and the Universi-
ty’s Investment Policy, as previously discussed.

At June 30, 2013, the University had the following 
investments with quality ratings: 
(Figure D.2 below)

Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk 
for investments is the risk that, in the event of a 
failure of the counterparty, the University will not 
be able to recover the value of the investments 
that are in the possession of an outside party. 
The University does not have a formal investment 
policy for custodial credit risk. At June 30, 2013, 
the University had $4,771,470 in repurchase 
agreements where the underlying securities were 
uninsured and held by the counterparty, but not 
in the University’s name. At June 30, 2013, the 
University also had $8,661,470 in common and 
preferred stock, $102,087,057 in U.S. agencies, 
$114,134,878 in commercial paper and corporate 
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notes, $3,548,005 in negotiable certificates of 
deposit, and $15,796,671 in municipal bonds 
which were uninsured and held by the counter-
party, but not in the University’s name.

Concentration of Credit Risk: Concentration 
of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the 
magnitude of a government’s investment in a 
single issuer. For endowment funds, the Univer-
sity policy requires diversification of investments 
across a broad spectrum and specific limits to 
concentration of securities within categories of 
equities, fixed income, and alternatives. Rule 17 
of the State Money Management Council limits 
non-endowment fund investments in a single 
issuer of commercial paper and corporate obli-
gations to 5 percent. The Money Management 
Council limitations do not apply to securities 
issued by the U.S. Government and its agencies.

At June 30, 2013, the University held more than 
5 percent of total investments in securities of the 
Federal Farm Credit Bank, Federal Home Loan 
Bank, and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage 
Corporation. These investments represent 8.81, 
7.52, and 7.61 percent respectively of the 
total investments.

Under the terms of various limited partnership 
agreements approved by the Board of Trustees or 
by University officers, the University is obligated 
to make periodic payments for advance commit-
ments to venture capital, natural resource, and 
private equity investments. As of June 30, 2013, 
the University had committed, but not paid, a to-
tal of $9,126,205 in funding for these alternative 
investments.

E. Accounts, 
credits, and 
student loans 
receivable
Accounts receivable consist of the following at 
June 30, 2013: (See Figure E.1 below)

Credits receivable, $329,714, reflect amounts 
due from vendors doing business primarily with 
the University’s Campus Store.

Student loans receivable are comprised primarily 
of loans issued through the Federal Perkins Loan 
Program (FPLP) and short-term loans issued 
from funds set aside by the University for that 
purpose.

The FPLP loans provide for cancellation of a loan 
at rates of 10 percent to 30 percent per year up 
to a maximum of 100 percent if the participant 
complies with certain provisions. The FPLP loans 
become payable by the student after completion 
of academic degrees or termination as a student, 
with a term of ten years and an interest rate of 
5 percent. In the event the University should 
withdraw from the FPLP or the government were 
to cancel the program, the amount the University 
would be liable to the federal government for, as 
of June 30, 2013, is $10,893,131.

Figure E.1 Current Non-Current Total
Due from primary government

State contracts and grants $1,849,140  - $1,849,140 

State appropriations 882,995  - 882,995 

State grant - USTAR 4,370,938  - 4,370,938 

Land-grant revenue 141,971  - 141,971 

Due from State Treasurer 1,612,804  - 1,612,804 

Due from others

Contracts and grants 31,338,316 $299,906 31,638,222 

Pledges receivable 3,640,863 31,723,832 35,364,695 

Auxiliary and service enterprises 1,678,918  - 1,678,918 

Other activities 10,548,474 1,076,337 11,624,811 

Total accounts receivable 56,064,419  33,100,075 89,164,494 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (512,537)  - (512,537)

Net accounts receivable $55,551,882 $33,100,075 $88,651,957 
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As the University determines that loans are uncol-
lectible and not eligible for reimbursement by the 
federal government, the loans are written off and 
assigned to the U.S. Department of Education.

Other University short-term loans have a term 
of two to four months and carry an interest rate 
of 7 percent to 12 percent. The 12 percent rate 
applies if the loan becomes delinquent. Notes 
receivable are as follows: (Figure E.2)

Figure E.2 Current Non-Current
Total 

Receivable
Federal Perkins Loan Program $725,645 $11,481,971 $12,207,616 

Other 480,981 67,409 548,390 

Total notes receivable 1,206,626 11,549,380 12,756,006 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (59,760) (176,422) (236,182)

Net notes receivable $1,146,866 $11,372,958 $12,519,824 

Michael Christiansen, pro-

fessor of guitar at Utah 

State University, is Utah’s 

2012 Carnegie Foundation 

for the Advancement of 

Teaching Professor of the 

Year. The award salutes the 

most outstanding under-

graduate educators in the 

country — those who excel 

in teaching and positively 

influence the lives and ca-

reers of students. Christian-

sen was the 12th Utah State 

University professor to win 

the award.
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F. Property, 
plant, and 
equipment
The University’s investment in property, plant, 
and equipment consists of the following: 
(Figure F.1)

 Figure F.1
Balance

June 30, 2012 Additions Transfers Disposals
Balance

June 30, 2013

Property, plant, and equipment not 
depreciated

Land $35,065,002 $1,015,712  -  - $36,080,714 

Construction in progress

Buildings 14,208,716 19,456,103 ($17,358,699) ($43,173) 16,262,947 

Improvements other than buildings 4,527,704 2,847,886 (7,197,834)  - 177,756 

Equipment 56,051 62,886 427,879  - 546,816 

Art and special collections 16,018,512 3,924,383  -  - 19,942,895 

Total property, plant, and 
  equipment not depreciated $69,875,985 $27,306,970 ($24,128,654) ($43,173) $73,011,128 

Other property, plant, and equipment

Buildings $774,544,197 $1,503,049 $17,358,699 ($1,316,550) $792,089,395 

Improvements other than buildings 80,716,354  - 7,197,834  (734,927) 87,179,261 

Equipment 155,387,063 14,368,041 (427,879) (6,908,085) 162,419,140 

Library collections 73,457,417 878,696  -  (372,050) 73,964,063 

Total other property, plant, and
  equipment 1,084,105,031 16,749,786 24,128,654 (9,331,612) 1,115,651,859 

Less accumulated depreciation

Buildings (266,856,383) (23,289,420)  -  1,032,231 (289,113,572)

Improvements other than buildings (47,385,892) (3,325,462)  -  247,426 (50,463,928)

Equipment (103,174,901) (12,731,956)  - 6,027,693 (109,879,164)

Library collections (48,746,200) (2,654,888)  -  372,050 (51,029,038)

Total accumulated depreciation (466,163,376) (42,001,726) 0 7,679,400 (500,485,702)

Other capital assets - net $617,941,655 ($25,251,940) $24,128,654 ($1,652,212) $615,166,157 

Capital assets - summary

Capital assets not depreciated $69,875,985 $27,306,970 ($24,128,654) ($43,173) $73,011,128 

Other capital assets at cost 1,084,105,031 16,749,786 24,128,654 (9,331,612) 1,115,651,859 

Total cost of capital assets 1,153,981,016 44,056,756 0 (9,374,785) 1,188,662,987 

Less accumulated depreciation (466,163,376) (42,001,726)  - 7,679,400 (500,485,702)

Capital assets - net of depreciation $687,817,640 $2,055,030 $0 ($1,695,385) $688,177,285 
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G. Accounts 
payable and 
accrued 
Liabilities
Accounts payable consisted of the following at 
June 30, 2013: (Figure G.1)

Figure G.1
Salaries and benefits payable ($2,554,877   
  due to primary government) $30,807,326 

Due to primary government 2,436,863 

Suppliers payable 14,936,648 

Interest payable 732,035 

Other 27,520 

Total accounts payable and accrued  
  liabilities $48,940,392 

H. Bonds, NOtes, 
Contracts, 
and other 
non-current 
liabilities
Assets pledged for payment of bonds and 
contracts include the net revenue of auxiliary 
enterprises, land-grant funds, specific student 
fees, and reimbursed facilities and administrative 
costs. The gross amount of capital assets 
purchased under capital lease as of June 30, 
2013, was $35,118,761. Bonds, notes, and 
contracts outstanding at June 30, 2013 were as 
follows: (Figure H.1)

The Aggie Legacy Fields 

provide members of the 

campus community with 

safe, fully-lit arenas to 

stretch their competitive 

legs. The fields accom-

modate multiple sports 

and are overseen by 

Campus Recreation, a 

division of Student 

Services.
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Figure H.1 June 30, 2013
Bonds payable

Stadium/Spectrum and Student Recreation Bonds

Series A (2004) 2.00%-5.00%, 2004-2014, $11,065,000 $440,000 

Series 2013 2.00%-4.00%, 2013-2026, $8,405,000 8,405,000 
Total Stadium/Spectrum and Student Recreation Bonds 8,845,000 

Student Housing System Revenue Bonds

Series 2007 4.00%-5.00%, 2005-2035, $39,155,000 39,155,000 
Series 2009 2.00%-4.00%, 2010-2015, $8,130,000 3,365,000 

Total Student Housing System Revenue Bonds 42,520,000 
Research Revenue Bonds

Series 2003 1.90%-4.40%, 2003-2016, $705,000 195,000 
Series 2009 2.00%-5.00%, 2009-2031, $22,000,000 20,150,000 
Series 2010 2.00%-5.00%, 2010-2017, $11,070,000 10,810,000 

Total Research Revenue Bonds 31,155,000 
Total bonds payable 82,520,000 

Notes and capital leases payable
Caterpillar Financial Services, 3.95%, 2003-2025 9,479,192 
Caterpillar Financial Services, 4.65%, 2005-2025 89,813 
State of Utah - Building Ownership Authority, 7.16%, 1998-2018 654,304 
Bank of America, 4.18%, 2007-2022 1,287,167 
Bank of America, 4.35%, 2010-2022 1,757,466 
Bank of America, 1.49%, 2013-2018 780,242 
CalFirst Bank, 3.49%, 2011-2016 173,078 
State of Utah - DFCM, 0%, 2011-2016 12,357 
State of Utah - DFCM, 0%, 2011-2016 62,867 
State of Utah - DFCM, 0%, 2011-2016 311,250 
State of Utah - DFCM, 0%, 2013-2015 88,888 
State of Utah - DFCM, 0%, 2013-2015 102,388 
SunTrust Leasing Corp., 3.97%, 2008-2018 311,451 
SunTrust Leasing Corp., 2.6956%, 2011-2016 194,856 
SunTrust Leasing Corp., 2.334%, 2013-2022 817,138 
SunTrust Leasing Corp., 2.078%, 2013-2020 355,377 
SunTrust Leasing Corp., 3.75%, 2008-2018 89,764 
SunTrust Leasing Corp., 4.5%, 2008-2018 69,677 
SunTrust Leasing Corp., 3.34%, 2011-2018 543,079 
SunTrust Leasing Corp., 2.84%, 2012-2019 200,428 
SunTrust Leasing Corp., 2.81%, 2013-2019 552,646 
SunTrust Leasing Corp., 2.72%, 2013-2023 2,967,797 
SunTrust Leasing Corp., 2.33%, 2013-2018 277,516 
SunTrust Leasing Corp., 2.69%, 2013-2020 212,308 
Zions Bank, 5.15%, 2009-2016 124,983 
Zions Bank, 4.54%, 2009-2016 86,342 
Zions Credit Corp., 5.12%, 2010-2030 290,355 

Total notes and capital leases payable 21,892,729 
Equipment contracts payable, 2009-2018 1,852,249 

Total bonds, notes, and equipment contracts payable 106,264,978 
Unamortized reoffering premiums (RP) and refunding loss on bonds

2004A Bonds - RP 122 
2007 Bonds - refunding loss (1,494,554)
2007 Bonds - RP 3,060,089 
2009 Bonds - RP 473,574 
2009 Bonds (housing) - RP 116,990 
2009 Bonds (housing) - refunding loss (15,756)
2010 Bonds - RP 603,874 
2010 Bonds - refunding loss (646,193)
2013 Bonds - RP 583,325 
2013 Bonds - refunding loss (386,532)

Total RP and refunding loss on bonds 2,294,939 
Total bonds, notes, and equipment contracts payable net of unamortized RP 
  and refunding loss on bonds $108,559,917 
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Below is a summary of the changes in bonds, 
notes, and equipment contracts payable for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2013: (Figure H.2)

Figure H.2 Bonds

Notes and
Capital
Leases

Equipment 
Contracts

Total 
Payable

Unamortized
RP and

Refunding
 Loss

Total Net of
RP and

Refunding
Loss

Balance at June 30, 2012 $86,500,000 $21,622,902 $1,340,142 $109,463,044 $2,296,606 $111,759,650 

Additions  8,405,000 6,634,173 1,135,332 16,174,505  201,423 16,375,928 

Deletions (12,385,000) (6,364,346) (623,225) (19,372,571) (203,090) (19,575,661)

Balance at June 30, 2013 $82,520,000 $21,892,729 $1,852,249 $106,264,978 $2,294,939 $108,559,917 

The University has complied with the restrictive 
covenants of its bond agreements. Amounts due 
on bonds, notes, and contracts payable in future 
years are as follows: (Figure H.3)

Figure H.3 Bonds
Bond

Interest

Notes and
Capital
Leases

Notes and
Capital 
Leases

Interest
Equipment
Contracts

Contracts
Interest

Total
Amount

Required

FY 2014 $5,062,000 $3,483,589 $2,605,165 $735,726 $765,635 $40,450 $12,692,565 

FY 2015 5,235,000 3,291,311 2,593,636 652,255 504,904  22,623 12,299,729 

FY 2016 4,908,000 3,143,617 2,472,451 566,092  353,975  10,295 11,454,430 

FY 2017 4,930,000 2,994,933 2,310,847 481,320  184,400  3,490 10,904,990 

FY 2018 5,120,000 2,804,658 2,411,535 396,978  43,335  356 10,776,862 

FY’s  2019-2023 16,325,000 11,717,439 8,226,819 953,170  -     - 37,222,428 

FY’s  2024-2028 18,635,000 7,708,754 1,235,739 40,372  -  - 27,619,865 

FY’s  2029-2033 16,470,000 3,483,419  36,537  1,342  -  - 19,991,298 

FY’s  2034-2035 5,835,000 368,313  -  -  -  - 6,203,313 

Totals $82,520,000 $38,996,033 $21,892,729 $3,827,255 $1,852,249 $77,214 $149,165,480 

The outstanding balance of bonds defeased and 
refunded in prior years totaled $48,075,000 at 
June 30, 2013. The bond liabilities of the de-
feased and refunded bonds are not included on 
the Statement of Net Position.

Summary of changes in liabilities for the year 
ended June 30, 2013 is as follows: (Figure H.4)
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Figure H.4

Beginning
Balance

June 30, 2012 Additions Reductions

Ending
Balance

June 30, 2013

Amounts
Due Within
One Year

Bonds, notes, and contracts payable

Bonds payable $88,796,606 $8,606,423 ($12,588,090) $84,814,939 $5,062,000 

Notes and capital leases payable 20,279,564 6,380,594 (5,999,484) 20,660,674 2,142,799 

Notes payable to primary government 1,343,338 253,579 (364,862) 1,232,055 462,366 

Contracts payable 1,340,142 1,135,332 (623,225) 1,852,249 765,635 

Total bonds, notes, and contracts 
  payable 111,759,650 16,375,928 (19,575,661) 108,559,917 8,432,800 

Other liabilities

Liability for compensated absences 16,412,773 10,612,331 (10,330,485) 16,694,619 11,129,300 

Liability for early retirement 15,569,972 5,081,218 (5,576,984) 15,074,206 6,159,695 

Deposit due to primary government  465,000 - - 465,000 -

Other  697,843 -  (75,733) 622,110  78,145 

Total other liabilities 33,145,588 15,693,549 (15,983,202) 32,855,935 17,367,140 

Total non-current liabilities $144,905,238 $32,069,477 ($35,558,863) $141,415,852 $25,799,940 

I. Pledged Bond 
Revenue
The University issues revenue bonds to provide 
funds for the construction and renovation of 
major capital facilities. Investors in these bonds 
rely solely on the net revenue pledged by the fol-
lowing activities for the retirement of outstanding 
bonds payable.

Student Fee and Housing System is com-
prised of the net revenue from specific Auxiliary 
enterprises and student building fee assess-
ments. The Student Fee and Housing System 
includes all University housing except the Student 
Living Center, Parking Services, all of University 
Dining Services, the net revenues of the Taggart 
Student Center, Student Building Fees specifical-
ly identified in the bond resolution, and land-
grant revenues. The University has pledged future 
net revenues of the Student Fee and Housing 
System to repay $39,155,000 and $8,130,000 
in bonds issued in May 2007 and October 2009 
respectively. Proceeds from the 1994 and 2004 
bonds provided financing for the construction 
and renovation of the Student Fee and Housing 
System facilities. Proceeds from the 2007 bonds 
were used to refund bonds issued in 2004. 
Proceeds from the 2009 bonds were used to 
refund bonds issued in 1999, which were issued 

to refund bonds issued in 1994. Student Fee and 
Housing System annual net revenues are project-
ed to produce at least 110 percent of the annual 
debt service requirements over the life of the 
bonds. The total principal and interest remaining 
to be paid on the bonds is $69,753,559. The 
bonds are payable solely from the Student Fee 
and Housing System and are payable through 
2035.

Student Fee Stadium/Spectrum Recreation 
Facilities System is comprised of those student 
fees specifically identified in the bond resolution 
and paid by students for the use and availability 
of the facilities. The University has pledged future 
revenues of the specifically identified student fees 
to repay $11,065,000 and $8,405,000 in bonds 
issued in June 2004 and March 2013 respec-
tively. Proceeds from the 2004 bonds provided 
financing for the renovating and remodeling of 
the University’s football stadium and a student 
recreation center. Proceeds from the 2013 bonds 
were used to refund a portion of the bonds 
issued in 2004. This refunding resulted in an 
increase of $395,626 in the net carrying amount 
of the refunded debt, a reduction in the future 
debt service payments of $1,616,093, and an 
economic gain (difference between the present 
value of the old and new debt service payments) 
of $1,347,933. Student fee revenues are project-
ed to produce at least 110 percent of the annual 
debt service requirements over the life of the 
bonds. The total principal and interest remaining 
to be paid on the bonds is $10,704,216. The 
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bonds are payable solely from the Student Fee 
Stadium/Spectrum Recreation Facilities System 
and are payable through 2026.

Research Revenue System is comprised of 
the revenue generated from the recovery of allo-
cated facilities and administration costs to con-
tracts and grants based on federally approved 
negotiated rate agreements. The University has 
pledged future revenues of the Research Rev-
enue System to repay $23,735,000; $705,000; 
$22,000,000; and $11,070,000 in bonds issued 
in July 2002, March 2003, May 2009, and July 
2010 respectively. Proceeds from the 2002 
bonds provided financing for the cost of ac-
quiring, constructing, furnishing, and equipping 
three buildings as office and research facilities 
on the Utah State University Innovation Campus. 
Proceeds from the 2003 bonds provided for the 
acquisition of 550 acres of farmland, approxi-

Figure I.1

Student Fee
and Housing

System

Student Fee
Stadium/Spectrum

Recreation
Facilities System

Research
Revenue
System

Revenue

Operating revenue/gross profit $22,712,308 $1,271,186 $29,168,954 

Non-operating revenue 824,392 - -

Total revenue 23,536,700 1,271,186 29,168,954 

Expenses

Operating expenses 15,876,746 - -

Total expenses 15,876,746 0 0 

Net pledged revenue $7,659,954 $1,271,186 $29,168,954 

Principal paid and interest expense $3,678,229 $796,044 $4,062,388 

Debt service ratio 2.08X 1.60X 7.18X

mately 12 miles northwest of Logan, to replace 
University farmland now assigned to the Universi-
ty’s Innovation Campus. Proceeds from the 2009 
bonds provided financing for the cost of acquir-
ing, constructing, and equipping two research 
facilities located at the University’s main campus 
and the Vernal, Utah campus. Proceeds from the 
2010 bonds were used to refund a portion of the 
bonds issued in 2002. Annual principal and inter-
est payments on the bonds are expected to re-
quire less than 20 percent of revenues. The total 
principal and interest remaining to be paid on the 
bonds is $41,058,258. The bonds are payable 
solely from the Research Revenue System and 
are payable through 2031.

The following schedule presents the net revenue 
pledged to the applicable bond system and the 
principal and interest paid for the year ended 
June 30, 2013. (Figure I.1)
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J. Pension Plans 
And Retirement 
Benefits
As required by state law, eligible non-exempt 
employees of the University (as defined by the 
U.S. Fair Labor Standards Act) are covered by 
the Utah Retirement Systems. Eligible exempt 
employees (as defined by the U.S. Fair Labor 
Standards Act) are covered by the Teachers 
Insurance and Annuity Association-College 
Retirement Equities Fund (TIAA-CREF) and/or 
Fidelity Investments (Fidelity). The total employee 
compensation and the total contribution for each 
pension plan for the year ending June 30, 2013, 
and the two previous years were as follows: 
(Figure J.1)

Contributions

Figure J.1 Year Compensation
Defined

Benefit Plans

Defined
Contribution
Plans 401(k) Total

Utah Retirement Systems
State and School System – 
  Contributory 

2013 $4,212,028 $416,961  - $416,961
2012 1,952,662 214,370  - 214,370
2011 616,240 110,196  - 110,196

State and School System – 
  Non-Contributory (includes 
  amounts (see note below)
  contributed to a 401(k) plan 
  with Educators Mutual
  Insurance Association (EMIA))

2013 36,016,837 6,949,647 $692,328 7,641,975
2012 40,154,027 6,709,673 697,534 7,407,207
2011 37,363,709 6,124,421 629,068 6,753,489

Public Safety with Social Security 
  System – Non-Contributory 

2013 528,817 138,459  - 138,459
2012 562,846 135,408  - 135,408
2011 315,243 104,135  - 104,135

401(k) Plan and Tier 2 DC Only –
  Contributory 

2013 265,347 398  - 398
2012  -  -  - 0
2011  -  -  - 0

TIAA-CREF and/or Fidelity
 

2013 166,780,421  - 23,682,706 23,682,706
2012 159,291,882  - 22,619,447 22,619,447
2011 154,162,461  - 21,891,069 21,891,069

Non-eligible employees 2013 59,249,971  -  - 0 
2012 55,358,753  -  - 0 
2011 55,597,458  -  - 0 
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Utah Retirement Systems plans include multiple-
employer, cost sharing, defined benefit plans, 
and defined contribution plans consisting of 
401(k) and 457 plans. The defined benefit 
plans provide defined benefits based on years 
of service and highest average salaries. The 
defined contribution plans provide benefits based 
on total contributions and the accumulated 
earnings. These systems cover substantially 
all eligible public employees of the State of 
Utah, educational employees, and employees 
of participating local governmental entities. The 
pension benefit is vested at the end of four years 
under all Utah Retirement Systems plans in 
which University employees are participating. The 
amount credited as the individual’s contribution 
is vested at the time the contribution is made. 
The contribution requirements of the systems 
are authorized by statute and specified by the 
Board and the contribution rates are actuarially 
determined. For the years ended June 30, 2013, 
2012, and 2011, University contributions to the 
systems were equal to the required amounts 
(Figure J.1 page 43). For employees in the Tier 
1 Contributory plan, the University contributes 
at a rate of 20.27 percent of gross earnings. 
Of this, 6 percent is credited as the individual’s 
contribution and 14.27 percent is considered the 
University’s contribution. For employees in the 
Tier 2 Contributory plan, the contribution rate is 
15.06 percent. For employees in the Tier 1 State 
and School System - Non-contributory plan, the 
University contributes 20.26 percent of gross 
earnings. Of this,1.5 percent is contributed to 
a 401(k) plan and 18.76 percent is credited as 
the University’s contribution. For the employees 
in the Utah Public Safety with Social Security 
System – Non-contributory plan, the University 
contributes 37.29 percent of gross earnings. 
Employer contributions to the 401(k) for the years 
ended June 30, 2013, 2012, and 2011, were 
$671,128; $675,000; and $605,491 respectively. 
During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2013, 
2012, and 2011, the University’s contributions to 
all other Utah retirement plans were $7,505,465; 
$7,059,451; and $6,338,752 respectively. 
Employee contributions to the 401(k) plan for 
the same years were $874,977; $972,562; and 
$929,280 respectively. Employee contributions 
to the 457 plan were $36,553; $51,357; and 
$52,995 respectively.

The Utah Retirement Systems are established 
and governed by the respective sections of 
Chapter 49 of the Utah Code Annotated 1953 
as amended. The Utah State Retirement Office 
Act in Chapter 49 provides for the administra-

tion of the Utah Retirement Systems and plans 
under the direction of the Utah State Retirement 
Board, whose members are appointed by the 
governor. The Utah Retirement Systems issues 
a publicly available financial report that includes 
financial statements and required supplementary 
information for the State and School System – 
Contributory Retirement plan, State and School 
System – Non-contributory Retirement plan, and 
Public Safety Retirement System plan. A copy of 
the report may be obtained by writing to the Utah 
Retirement Systems, 540 East 200 South, Salt 
Lake City, Utah 84102-2099, or by calling 
1-800-753-7361.

Educators Mutual Insurance Association provides 
a 401(k) defined contribution plan that can be 
utilized by employees on the Utah Retirement 
State and School System – Non-contributory 
plan. This contribution is in lieu of the 1.5 percent 
that would have been contributed to the Utah 
Retirement System’s 401(k) plan. The contribu-
tion made by the University is at 1.5 percent of 
gross earnings. Contributions by the University 
become vested at the time the contribution is 
made. During the fiscal years ended June 30, 
2013, 2012, and 2011, the University’s contribu-
tion to this 401(k) plan was $21,200; $22,534; 
and $23,577 respectively. The University has 
no further liability once contributions are made. 
Employee contributions for the same years were 
$66,396; $62,947; and $137,307 respectively.

TIAA-CREF and/or Fidelity provide individual 
defined contribution retirement fund contracts 
with each participating employee. Employees may 
allocate contributions by the University to any or 
all of the providers and the contracts become 
vested at the time the contribution is made. Em-
ployees are eligible to participate from the date of 
employment and are not required to contribute to 
the fund. Benefits provided to retired employees 
are based on the value of individual contracts and 
the estimated life expectancy of the employee at 
retirement. For the years ended June 30, 2013, 
2012, and 2011, the University’s contribution to 
this multiple employer defined contribution plan 
was 14.2 percent (12.26 percent for post retirees) 
of the employees’ annual salary or $23,682,706; 
$22,619,447; and $21,891,069 respectively. The 
University has no further liability once annual 
contributions are made. Employee contributions 
for the same years were $6,184,720; $5,251,177; 
and $4,978,102 respectively.

The University provides an early retirement option 
to employees who qualify and are approved by 
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administration in accordance with University 
policy. This option is available to employees 
whose accumulated age and years of service are 
equal to or greater than 75, that have met the 
minimum age requirements, and where the early 
retirement is in the mutual best interest of the 
employee and the University.

The policy provides two mutually exclusive early 
retirement options for eligible employees; either 
six years (16.67 percent of base salary per year) 
or five years (20 percent of base salary per year). 
The six-year option requires a minimum age of 56 
and the five-year option requires a minimum age 
of 57. Benefits include a monthly stipend equal to 
the agreed upon percent of the retiree’s salary at 
the time of active employment along with medical 
and dental insurance.

The projected future cost of these stipends and 
the medical and dental insurance benefits have 
been calculated based on the known amount to 
be paid out in the next fiscal year plus projected 
increases of 0.6 percent (University), 3 percent 
(USURF) for stipends and 5.55 percent (Univer-
sity), 9 percent (USURF) for medical and dental 
premiums. These increases are based on histor-
ical data. The premiums for medical and dental 
benefits have also been increased by an age-ad-
justed factor of 2.9. The net present value of the 
total projected costs is calculated using the esti-
mated yield (3.909%) for University investments 
in the Cash Management Investment Pool and 
(4.17%) for USURF. The net present value is the 
amount recognized on the financial statements as 
the liability for early retirement.

At June 30, 2013, there were 172 participants 
in the early-retirement program. The program is 
funded on a pay-as-you-go basis from current 
funds. Payments for the stipend in the years 
ended June 30, 2013, 2012, and 2011 were 
$1,737,496; $1,942,353; and $2,111,009 re-
spectively. Payments for the health care and 
life insurance benefits for the years ended June 
30, 2013, 2012, and 2011 were $1,264,885; 
$1,543,761; and $1,434,095 respectively.

K. Risk 
Management
General Liability Insurance

The University maintains insurance coverage 
for general, automobile, personal injury, 
errors and omissions, employee dishonesty, 
and malpractice liability up to $10 million per 
occurrence through policies administered by 
the Utah State Risk Management Fund. The 
University also insures its buildings, including 
those under construction, and contents 
against all insurable risks of direct physical 
loss or damage with the Utah State Risk 
Management Fund. This all-risk insurance 
coverage provides for repair or replacement 
of damaged property at a replacement cost 
basis subject to a deductible of $1,000 per 
occurrence. All revenues from University 
operations, rental income for its residence 
halls, and tuition are insured against loss due 
to business interruption caused by fire or 
other insurable perils with the Utah State Risk 
Management Fund. All University employees 
are covered by worker’s compensation 
insurance, including employer’s liability 
coverage by the Worker’s Compensation 
Fund of Utah.

Self-Insurance for Employee 
Health and Dental Care

The University has a self-insurance fund for 
employee health and dental care. GASB 
Statement No. 10 requires a liability for claims 
be reported if information prior to the issu-
ance of the financial statements indicates it 
is probable a liability has been incurred at the 
date of the financial statements. The Univer-
sity’s estimated self-insurance claims liability 
at June 30, 2013, and June 30, 2012, are as 
follows: (Figure K.1)

Figure K.1 2013 2012
Estimated claims liability at beginning of year $4,136,972 $4,229,618 

Current year claims and changes in estimates 38,641,851 37,638,925 

Claim payments, including related legal and administrative expenses (37,920,422) (37,731,571)

Estimated claims liability at end of year $4,858,401 $4,136,972 
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The University has recorded the investment of 
the health and dental care funds at June 30, 
2013, and the estimated liability for self-insur-
ance claims at that date in the Statement of Net 
Position. The income on fund investments, the 
expenses related to the administration of the self 
insurance, and the estimated provision for the 
claims liabilities for the year then ended are re-
corded in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, 
and Changes in Net Position and the Statement 
of Net Position.

Contingencies

The University has been named in several law-
suits where litigation is pending. It is unlikely 
that any judgments against the University will be 
established or would otherwise be material in 
nature. Most lawsuits are such that any financial 
settlement would be covered primarily by insur-
ance held by the University through the State’s 
Division of Risk Management.

Utah State University Research Foundation has 
a bank revolving line of credit with a limit of 

$2 million. At June 30, 2013, the outstanding 
balance was zero. It is unsecured, due on 
demand, and expires October 22, 2014.

At June 30, 2013, the University had outstanding 
commitments for the construction and remodel-
ing of University buildings of approximately 
$4.3 million.

L. Blended 
Presentation 
of Component  
Units
The following is a condensed version of Utah 
State University Research Foundation and Utah 
State University Foundation’s financial statements 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. 
(Figures L.1, L.2, and L.3)

component Units
C o n d e n s e d  S tat e m e n t  o f  N e t  P o s i t i o n

J u n e  3 0 ,  2 0 1 3

Figure L.1 USURF Foundation
Assets

Current assets $16,909,163 $1,502,490 
Current assets due from the University 397,079 31,527,970 
Non-current assets  - 1,827,823 
Non-current assets due from the University 715,620  - 
Capital assets – net 20,562,390  - 

Total assets 38,584,252 34,858,283 
Liabilities

Current liabilities 9,613,662  - 
Current liabilities due to the University 687,787  - 
Non-current liabilities 13,903,568  - 
Non-current liabilities due to the University (27,240)  - 

Total liabilities 24,177,777 0 
Net position

Net investment in capital assets 6,460,446  - 
Restricted

Non-expendable

Primarily scholarships and fellowships  - 30,361,209 
Expendable

Research, instruction, and public service  - 3,494,584 
Unrestricted  7,946,029 1,002,490 

Total net position $14,406,475 $34,858,283 
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The University has not included the Advanced 
Weather Systems Foundation and the College 
of Eastern Utah Foundation financial statements 
because they are not considered to be material.

component Units
C o n d e n s e d  S tat e m e n t  o f  r e v e n u e s , 

e x p e n s e s ,  a n d  c h a n g e s  i n  N e t  P o s i t i o n
F o r  t h e  y e a r  e n d e d  J u n e  3 0 ,  2 0 1 3

Figure L.2 USURF Foundation
Operating revenues

Project revenues $44,143,755  - 
Project unit indirect costs, general and administrative costs, and cost of money 16,500,886  - 
Project fees 3,674,789  - 
Administrative reimbursement, USU 1,905,265  - 
Royalty income 53,716  - 
Other 605,862  - 

Total operating revenues 66,884,273 $0 
Operating expenses

Salaries and wages 27,265,448  - 
Employee benefits 15,129,458  - 
Subcontracts 4,121,572  - 
Depreciation and amortization 2,525,537  - 
Research support to USU 772,786  - 
Other 15,596,018  - 

Total operating expenses 65,410,819 0 
Operating income 1,473,454 0 

Non-operating revenues/(expenses)
Private gifts 74,176 5,970,401 
Other (524,612) 1,939,411 

Total non-operating revenues/(expenses) (450,436) 7,909,812 
Income before other revenues/(expenses) 1,023,018 7,909,812 

Other revenues/(expenses)
Additions to permanent endowments  - 15,181 

Net other revenues 0 15,181 
Increase in net position 1,023,018 7,924,993 

Net position – beginning of year 13,383,457 26,933,290 
Net position – end of year $14,406,475 $34,858,283 

component Units
C o n d e n s e d  S tat e m e n t  o f  c a s h  f l o w s

f o r  t h e  y e a r  e n d e d  J u n e  3 0 ,  2 0 1 3

Figure L.3 USURF Foundation
Net cash provided/(used) by:

(1) Operating activities $3,241,210  - 
(2) Non-capital financing activities 74,176 $5,579,122 
(3) Capital and related financing activities (2,449,279)  - 
(4) Investing activities 12,466 (5,282,297)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 878,573 296,825 
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 5,937,051 1,205,791 
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year $6,815,624 $1,502,616 
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M. Subsequent 
Event
On August 27, 2013, the University issued 
$43,310,000 of Student Building Fee Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2013B for the purpose of paying 
a portion of the costs of constructing, equipping, 
and furnishing the Student Recreation and Well-
ness Center, and the Wayne Estes Center, which 
will be a basketball practice facility and volleyball 
competition venue. Student fee revenues are 
projected to produce at least 110 percent of the 
annual debt service requirements over the life of 
the bonds. Although these bonds are secured 
by a pledge of Student Building Fee revenues, 
it is anticipated that private donations will cover 
the portion of the debt service associated with 
the Wayne Estes Center. The bonds are payable 
through December 1, 2044.
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Utah State University alum, Lars Peter Hansen, is one 

of three Americans named a recipient of the 2013 

Nobel Prize in Economics. “My years at USU were 

very important to my development as a scholar,” he 

said. “I remember well the influences of my professors 

Mike Windham in mathematics, Bartell Jensen and 

Ken Lyons in economics, and Doug Alder in history.” 

A Cache Valley native, Hansen earned bachelor’s 

degrees in mathematics and political science with a 

minor in economics from USU in 1974. He is a son of 

the late R. Gaurth Hansen, renowned biochemist and 

former USU provost.




